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The Essence of
U.S. Gypsum Company

Our Company’s history reads like a great adventure novel.
There are remarkable stories of triumph and hardship,
courage and commitment—all set against the rich landscape
of 20th century American business. But how does one
adequately capture the essence of a company like U.S. Gypsum?
This was the challenge facing the editorial team when we

set out to organize, research and write this special centennial

edition of Looking Ahead.

To start engineering the issue, we prioritized the top four goals of the publication:

Capture the essence—"“heart and soul”—of U.S. Gypsum Company;

Celebrate the company’s unique heritage, products, culture, spirit, employees, customers, goals and vision;

Go beyond a simple chronicle of company history by describing the impact our company has had on manufacturing,
modern building design and world history;

Honor our past and illustrate how the enduring characteristics and culture serve to ensure our success over the
next 100 years.

Next, we set out to identify the core characteristics that supported—and continue to support—USG’s success.
After an exhaustive review of policy and vision statements, speeches, videos and bulletins over the last 100 years,
we compiled a list of 40 characteristics that best expressed the USG way of conducting business. Through a
series of more than 50 cross-functional employee focus group interviews, we trimmed that list to 10 characteristics.
By combining the research and interviews with what was happening at U.S. Gypsum Company and the world,
we arrived at the key company personality characteristics—one for each decade the company has operated.

We hope that you’ll find the story of U.S. Gypsum Company—along with the treasure of wonderful images—
enticing enough to see this venerable old enterprise in a new light. One thing is clear: The characteristics that helped
make USG successful 20, 50 or 100 years ago are still firmly intact today as we embark on our journey into the

next 100 years.

Christina Koliopoulos, editor



THE f17S ¢ DECADE

1902-1911

FOUNDERS BALANCE RISK, RESPONSIBILITY

The history of United States Gypsum Company begins with an
innovation, followed by competition and efficiency, as well as
fiscal, individual and product responsibility—some of the main
themes of the USG story for 100 years.

Responsibili

The innovation came in 1884, when 46 years. This company built a plant in South Chicago,
George Ringland of Fort Dodge, lowa, 1., to supply gypsum for the building facades at Chicago’s
discovered that glue added to calcined 1893 Columbian Exposition, a showcase for gypsum plaster.
gypsum, or plaster of Paris, lengthened The end of the 19th century was the era of industry
the set time. With more-controlled set, consolidation, when Standard Oil, U.S. Steel and others
gypsum could compete strongly with were built out of combinations of smaller companies.
lime-based plaster, which had been the wall coating of After a few false starts, several gypsum company owners,
choice for centuries, but had several drawbacks. As mainly in the Midwest, created their own combination.
demand grew, inexpensive calcining mills popped up all These owners, including the Averys, merged their proper-
over the United States near deposits of gypsum rock. ties in hope of creating economies of scale for greater

Most mill operators were inexperienced and had problems  profit, pooling resources for research and ending the price

The original United States Gypsum

Company logo. with processing. Even the best found it hard to make wars. Seventeen operating companies—mines, calcining
money because of oversupply and price wars. operations, mixing plants and a retarder facility—consoli-
Among the best was the Western Plaster Works of dated to form United States Gypsum Company, which
: .“'h. aster, Mich., owned by Waldo Avery, a successful was incorporated on December 27, 1901. The owners

ibebman whoselson, Sewell, later led U.S. Gypsum for exchanged thei ies for stock valued at $7.5 million.




When U.S. Gypsum opened for business on February 1,
1902, it had not one dollar in cash. In March, the company
was able to obtain a loan for $200,000. The note bore the
company’s signature and those of all 20 directors, which
made each personally responsible for the entire amount.
In addition, the minutes of the first board meeting indi-
cate that they decided to take minimal pay “until
the Company was well under way and the stockholders
could see the results”

The owners spent the first year adding facilities:

20 plants joined in 1902, again nearly all in the Midwest.
The owners also spent quite a bit of time fighting for
control and advantages for their own operations. There
were two presidents in the first three years: B.W. McCausland
(1902-1904), former partner of Waldo Avery, and
Ringland (1904-1905). In 1905, during one of the battles
among directors, Sewell Avery was elected president.

From the start, U.S. Gypsum produced a profit, albeit
small, most of which was responsibly put back into the
business. As planned, the company invested in research
and development. Its first new product came on the market
after just one year: PYROBAR gypsum tile, a fire-resistant
building block used in nonload-bearing partitions. Intro-
duced in 1903, this product offered the construction

industry great improvements in fire safety.

Orville and Wilbur Wright flew the
first airplane at Kitty Hawk, N.C.

The company took fire safety further when it made
an investment in September 1909 that changed the
course of the business. It bought the Sackett Plaster
Board Company, founded by Augustine Sackett, who had
invented (1888) and patented (1894) a panel made of
multiple layers of paper and plaster of Paris. U.S. Gypsum
had been selling SACKETT board for three years. Now it
owned three plants in which to perfect the product’s
manufacture.

SACKETT board was at this time 1/4 inch thick, 32
inches wide and 36 inches long. It was heavy, the open
edges tended to crumble, and the rough face paper made an
unsuitable wall finish. Although ugly, the board was an
excellent base for gypsum plaster. U.S. Gypsum marketed
it as a replacement for flammable wood lath. Within a
year, the company had improved its board considerably.
In 1910, Clarence Utzman of the Grand Rapids, Mich.,
plant designed a folded edge that minimized crumbling.
The better board was introduced in 1911. There were

more improvements to come.
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THE Se con d DECADE

1912-1921

The women’s suffrage movement
worked tirelessly to gain ratification
of the 19th Amendment, which gave
women the right to vote.

THE BIRTH OF A BRAND, SALES BASED ON INTEGRITY

Product advances, vertical integration and sales growth based

on integrity and other values formed the central accomplishments

of U.S. Gypsum’s second decade.

he company continued tinkering with
its gypsum lath. In 1913, it eliminated
the interior plies of paper to manufac-
ture a panel with a solid gypsum core,
named Adamant board. This change
supported experimentation with larger
sizes, including panels 48 inches wide and 8 feet long,
which in turn required stronger paper that was harder to
fold. Clarence Utzman came to the rescue again by per-
fecting a method of scoring the heavier paper to produce
a square edge. This simple innovation gave U.S. Gypsum
a competitive advantage because its panels could be
joined flush along a wall and decorated without being
coated with plaster. This, the first true wallboard, went
into production in 1916 at Fort Dodge, lowa. In 1917,
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sales representative D.L. Hunter came up with a new name
for the product: SHEETROCK. He received a share of
preferred stock as a reward.

Then, as now, sales representatives played an important
role in U.S. Gypsum’s growth. Many of the company’s
products—gypsum lath, PYROBAR tile and SHEETROCK Brand
wallboard—were new ideas, unknown in the construction
industry. The sales force had to create a market for them.
They did so with honesty and integrity. Sewell Avery
reported to shareholders in 1907, “These...representatives
of your company have been selected and trained with
careful regard to their integrity, ability and experience.
...Each approaches his customer...with the conviction
that the first principle of successful salesmanship is a strict
adherence to fairness and fact.”

During this decade, U.S. Gypsum started down the
path toward vertical integration that served it well in years
to come. An important focus during these early days was
securing additional supplies of raw material. The company
bought the Southard, Okla., gypsum deposit—some of the
purest gypsum in the world—in 1912 and identified other
rock sources that were purchased or developed in follow-
ing years. When lime companies wouldn’t sell gypsum
producers the lime they needed to make finishing plaster,
the company bought a lime deposit and built a plant at
Genoa, Ohio (1915). U.S. Gypsum constructed its first
wallboard-paper mill in 1918 at Gypsum, Ohio, and bought
a mill at Lancaster, Ohio, in 1920 to provide paper for
plaster bags. It also built new board lines at Oakfield,
N.Y., (1919) and Gypsum (1920) and purchased operations
in California, Nevada and Colorado (1919).

1919 was also the first year U.S. Gypsum paid
a dividend on its common stock—a tradition that lasted

69 consecutive years.



World War I helped the company grow. When several was
Army barracks burned because a pressed paperboard

h f iti h ifi
ad been used for partitions, the government specified Congress set an eight-hour

SHEETROCK Brand wallboard for all troop quarters. Volume work day for federal employ-
in 1917 and 1918 doubled vs.1916, but when the war ees. Most other Americans
worked 10 to 12 hours a day,

ended, U.S. Gypsum was faced with the problem of selling six days a week

SHEETROCK panels to civilian markets. It launched a major
advertising and sales program, and within two years, sales The 16th Amendment was

ratified, permitting Congress to

of SHEETROCK panels had doubled, comparing favorably levy a graduated income tax

with wartime levels. U.S. Gypsum’s first major period of

expansion was just over the horizon. The company would World War I started in Europe.

Also, after 10 years of work

and 30,000 casualties suffered

to take it forward. in its construction, the Panama
Canal opened.

rely on its new research department, organized in 1921,

A 1920s U.S. Gypsum marketing
brochure envisioned the future
of building design.

Long-distance telephone serv-
ice began between New York
and San Francisco.

The United States declared
war on Germany. The Bolshevik
revolution in Russia started.

World War | ended; the death
toll ran to more than 7 million.

American Telephone
& Telegraph Company intro-
duced dial telephones.

The U.S. ratified the 19th
Amendment, granting women
the right to vote.

Al



100 YEARS OF THE AMERICAN DREAM

NI1C

THEN AND NOW

MORE LENDING
INCREASES HOME
OWNERSHIP

WHY DID THINGS
CHANGE?



Most new housing built in the
past 100 years was located in
suburbs. Even hefore the 20th
century began, streetcar lines
and commuter railroads fostered
development of early suburbs.
Housing there often was built by
local carpenters using plans
ordered by mail. Soon, people
were able to order entire houses
by mail.

E.F. Hodgson Company of
Dover, Mass., is credited with
selling the first prefabricated
houses in 1892. The most
famous houses-by-mail compa-
ny, Sears, Roebuck, entered the
business in 1908. Sears was the
first to offer a total package,
including furnishings and
instaliment financing. Following
Henry Ford’s model of vertical
integration, Sears established its
own factories to cut lumber and
make doors and windows.

An estimated 500,000 kit
houses produced by a dozen
companies were sold in the last
century, mainly between 1910
and 1940. The kits consisted of
up to 30,000 numbered pieces
that were shipped to the future
homeowner in boxcars. The
homes’ use of pre-cut lumber
and balloon framing made them
fairly simple and quick to erect.

Kit houses’ factory origins
place them as forerunners of the
suburban developments that met
the housing needs of returning
World War Il veterans. Starting

in the late 1940s, large develop-
ers created house-building “fac-
tories” on site. The most famous
of these was William Levitt.
During World War Il, he and his
brother Alfred won government
contracts to construct housing
for defense workers. Under time
pressures, they developed mass-
production building methods
based on their observations of
auto assembly lines.

In 1946, William bought a
potato field in Island Trees, N.Y.,
on Long Island. There, from 1947
to 1951, Levitt and Sons built
a community of 17,450 homes,
later renamed Levittown. At the
peak of construction, the com-
pany put up 30 houses a day
at a time when most builders
finished four or five a year.

Levitt’s model turned the
workers into a movable assem-
bly line. Crews performed only
one job in a 27-step process.
They would go from site to site
excavating, pouring foundations,
raising walls and roofs, adding
doors and windows, installing
plumbing and appliances and
finally painting and finishing.

This process and other
elements—the large size of the
development, vertical integration
in materials and delivery and the
identical design of the houses—
made the project economically
feasible. The company cleared
about $1,000 on a house with an
$8,000 price tag. Using govern-
ment mortgage-guarantee
programs to offer financing with
no down payment, Levitt sold
300 houses in the first weekend
of sales.

Many considered the huge
developments of 750-square-foot,
two-bedroom Cape Cod style
homes to be monotonously
uniform. To their buyers, these
houses were a big step up from
urban rental housing—a piece
of the American dream. The
company built two more com-
munities, one near Philadelphia
in the 1950s and a third in New
Jersey in the 1960s.

Suburban development
exploded as many builders
followed the Levitt model and
grew in the process. Today, most
of the large home building
companies founded in the 1950s,
such as Pulte Homes, KB Home
(Kaufman and Broad) and
Centex Corporation, are publicly
held and work in many markets
across the nation. The homes
they construct are luxurious,
technological marvels by 1900
standards, made possible by
innovations in building, including
the developments in drywall
construction pioneered by U.S.
Gypsum Gompany.
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1922-1931
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U.S. Gypsum entered its third decade on a wave of expansion.
The "20s were roaring, construction was booming, and the company
erew to meet demand. It built wallboard machines at Southard,

Okla. (1922), Plasterco, Va., and Sweetwater, Texas (both 1924), and
began gypsum processing at Midland, Calif. (1925).

.S. Gypsum had operations throughout
the West and Midwest, but had been
unable to enter the large Eastern mar-
kets because of J.B. King. King refused
to join the combination in 1901 and
held out until his death in 1924. He
owned a plaster plant on Staten Island in New Brighton,
N.Y., that processed material from his quarries in
Nova Scotia—the only gypsum reserves on the East Coast
of North America. U.S. Gypsum’s closest mine was in

Oakfield, N.Y., too far away to compete.

When King died, U.S. Gypsum bought his company,
thereby securing a huge deposit of rock that could be
shipped economically to the East Coast. To move this
material, King had operated a fleet of schooners, all with
“royal” names in keeping with his surname, e.g., the
Gypsum Queen. U.S. Gypsum replaced these with its own,

modern “royal fleet,” the Gypsum King (1927),
Gypsum Prince and Gypsum Empress (both 1928).
\ Having acquired inexpensive raw materials, the
\ company built plaster and board plants in Boston
and Philadelphia in 1929. Plants in
East Chicago, Ind., and Detroit, supplied
from the expanded Alabaster,
Mich., quarry (1928), started

up that same year. Paper for

INSIST ON

PLA?TER
red top
Bags
More Yardage

Easiest Warking
Quilchest to Apaly

Rep Top Plaster was one of
U.S. Gypsum’s leading product
lines in the 1920s.

the additional lines came from new mills at Oakfield and

North Kansas City, Mo. (both 1926). U.S. Gypsum funded

this expansion in part by issuing common stock.

Product innovations also helped the company grow.
The newly created research organization invented a “soap
foam” process (1922) for incorporating air into the
gypsum board core, which greatly lowered the weight of
SHEETROCK panels. The company also brought to market
the first true joint compound (1924) and the first mineral
fiber ceiling tile (1929). This ACOUSTONE tile offered fire
safety, unlike previous ceiling panels, which contained
wood fiber. HYDROCAL gypsum, introduced in 1930, provided

a stronger, harder plaster for industrial uses.



U.S. Gypsum was one of the first
companies to use “lock-out”
switches to protect employees from
accidental equipment start-up during
maintenance or trouble-shooting.

During the "20s, sales and earnings hit peaks of
$32.8 million (1926) and $8.4 million (1925), respectively.
Sales had quadrupled and earnings had increased nearly
700 percent since 1919, the first year after World War 1.
Business started to decline from these highs, so the
company’s leaders already were anticipating trouble when
the stock market crashed in October 1929 and the
Great Depression began. U.S. Gypsum had accumulated
$35 million in cash reserves to see it through.

Rather than sit on this money, Avery and other exec-
utives decided to grow while growth was cheap. They
began an era of diversification in 1931 by purchasing two
expanded metal companies that manufactured metal lath,
as well as a wood fiber plant in Greenville, Miss. Canadian
Gypsum Company, formed in 1907, built wallboard plants
at Hillsborough, New Brunswick (1930), and Hagersville,
Ontario (1931).

The period was not without problems. In 1931,

U.S. Gypsum faced declining prices and sales. That August,
Oliver Knode, then executive vice president, sent a
20-chapter book entitled “A Test of Management” to all
key managers. It gave instructions on surviving the
Depression. Each chapter focused on a single subject.

One emphasized the importance of safety.

In 1913, U.S. Gypsum had demonstrated its safety
leadership when it joined with 67 other companies to
form the National Safety Council. In 1931, R.E. Colville
of the operating department wrote as part of Knode’s
book, “As leaders of men and as managers of industrial
properties, we cannot for humanitarian and business
reasons, shirk the responsibility of reducing accidents to
an irreducible minimum. ... Accident elimination must
become a vital phase of plant operation.”

The work at company facilities in these early years
was strenuous, especially in the mines and quarries,
where many functions were done manually. Yet safety was,

and remains, a major priority.

was

An apartment designed by
Charles Jeanneret (Le Corbusier)
appeared in an exhibit of

Arts Decoratifs in Paris. The
term Art Deco was coined
many years later to describe
the exposition’s style.

Charles Lindbergh completed
the first nonstop solo trans-
atlantic airplane flight.

The U.S. stock market

crashed on October 29, wiping
out $30 billion in equity value
and ushering in the Great
Depression. Penicillin was first
used to fight infection.

More than 1,300 U.S. banks
failed. Unemployment exceeded
4 million.

General Motors’ Frigidaire
division replaced ammonia in
refrigerators with Freon 12
gas, making the appliances
safe for household use.

Children of U.S. Gypsum’s
Alabaster, Mich., plant employees
attended this school.
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Relationships with Employees

THE fourth pecae

1952-1941

EMPLOYEES HELPED THROUGH DARK DAYS

t'stood by employees during this difficult time.
Oliver Knode’s 1931 communication, “A Test
of Management,” concluded with guidelines for
winter relief efforts. He wrote, “In the present
depressed states of business, there is another
responsibility. . .that management must accept:
...to alleviate the distress incident to unemployment.”
Plants reduced current employees’ schedules and
undertook improvements and maintenance projects so as
to return some laid-off workers to the payroll. Company
representatives acted as advocates in employees’ talks

with landlords and other creditors. U.S. Gypsum extended

credit at company stores and in rent on company housing.

(It had built these communities to attract workers to
remote operations.) It coordinated relief donations from

employees and even provided interest-free loans.
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As Knode said in an address to the Personnel Conference
20 years later, “The Golden Rule has been our Company’s
first precept since its inception.” That was evident during
the dark days of the early "30s.

The repair and remodel and industrial markets
helped U.S. Gypsum survive this period. Individuals and
companies remodeled buildings instead of erecting new
ones, creating a growing outlet for the company’s products.
As the economy quickened, industry rebounded before
construction did. At that time, 15 percent of USG’s sales
were to industry.

With economic recovery, Sewell Avery launched his
growth plan based on widespread plant locations, vertical
integration and diversification into other building materials.
The company expanded its geographic reach with two
wallboard lines at Midland, Calif. (1933 and 1937), and




The Dust Bowl was the worst drought
in U.S. history, affecting more than
75 percent of the country.

U.S. Gypsum’s TexoLITE interior paints
were promoted as an easy way to
cover wallpapers and other interior
finishes.

a board plant at Jacksonville, Fla. (1939), a state in which

market research indicated a building boom was coming.

U.S. Gypsum had diversified into paint and metal
in the previous decade. In the 1930s, it entered the
asphalt roofing business by acquiring a number of plants,
including one in South Gate, Calif. (1934), which was
making wallboard paper by the end of the decade. It also
introduced RED TOP mineral wool insulation in 1933,
which sowed the seed for later growth in this line. With
diversification, the company began delivering mixed
truckloads to its customers, a relatively new idea that gave
U.S. Gypsum a service advantage.

Innovations flowed from the company’s Building
Materials Research Laboratories, which moved in 1936
from Chicago’s Lewis Institute to their own building at
1253 West Diversey Parkway. “Stabilized set” wall plasters
(1932) offered dependable set times. Bundling two
gypsum panels face to face with paper end tape (1934)
protected the panels” surface. PERF-A-TAPE perforated
paper joint tape (1936) created a smoother joint
between gypsum panels. GLATEX glazed ceramic siding
(1939) provided a fire-resistant exterior that was easy
to clean and never needed painting. This product,
similar in concept to the enameled-steel siding used
on the 1940s Lustron homes, found a niche market
as the material for drive-in theater screens.

In 1941, the United States entered World War 11,
which brought the company new problems and

opportunities.
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Relationships with Customers

e fifth pecape

1942-1951

As the United States geared up for war, U.S. Gypsum found

itself facing labor shortages and a construction slump caused

by a government-imposed limit on home building. Thousands

of employees served in the military during World War 11, and

several hundred were wounded or killed.

he Canadian government conscripted all
four of the company’s ships; two were
sunk by torpedoes, and one went down
in a collision with a tanker.
The company supplied important
materials to the government during the war,
including about 1 billion square feet of gypsum wallboard
and sheathing for barracks and other buildings, expanded
metal for ships and landing-field mats at air bases,
insulating wool for bombers and high-quality lime for
processes at Hanford, Wash., where plutonium for the
atomic bomb was made.
Keeping in touch with USG servicemen around the
world became the job of Helen Graham. She started
the first company-wide publication, U.S.G. Service News,
the predecessor of Gypsum News and Looking Ahead.
In 1943, the company launched a foresighted advertising
effort. It published magazines—The Business of Farming
and Popular Home—that promoted its products. Dealers

purchased and then distributed the publications, imprinted

GypLap Brand Sheathing

was widely used to build
military barracks during
World War Il

GYPLAF USED IN F OUT OF |
JO MeEw ArRmY cAmMPS!

The Allies’ successful D-Day invasion
marked the beginning of the end of
World War II.

with their names, to customers. Only Life magazine had
greater circulation at the time.

Soldiers returning after the war encountered a housing
shortage. In response, new-home building boomed.
Veterans used low-interest GI-Bill mortgages to purchase
homes in large single-builder suburban developments—
exemplified by the Levittowns in the East. To forge
relationships in the changing construction industry, in
which sales frequently started in the design phase,

U.S. Gypsum established the architectural service depart-
ment in 1946. Drywall construction gained even greater
acceptance during this period because it could be
completed faster than wet walls. The company’s sales
force played an important role in training tradesmen in
proper application of gypsum panels, tapes and joint

compounds.



To meet accelerating demand, U.S. Gypsum expanded
again, investing $80 million over five years in a modern
ship-loading facility at Hantsport, Nova Scotia (1947);
two self-unloading gypsum ships (1948 and 1949); board
plants at Norfolk, Va., Plaster City, Calif. (both 1947),
Sigurd, Utah, and Gerlach (Empire), Nev. (both 1948);
and paper mills at Clark, N.J., and South Gate, Calif.
(both 1947). The company funded this growth by issuing
new stock and spending its cash.

At the 1950 works managers’ meeting, Oliver Knode,
on his second stint as president and ever the communi-
cator, looked back and presented a picture of a growing,
diversified company. He reported that 94 percent of
1926 sales were in gypsum products, whereas in 1950,
66 percent of sales were gypsum and 34 percent were in
other industries. Plants had increased from 20 to 48,
district sales offices from eight to 47. In the 49 years since
the company’s founding, net worth had grown 20 times—
to $150 million.

As U.S. Gypsum neared its 50th year in business,
Sewell Avery retired. Clarence Huston “Tex” Shaver was
named chairman of the board and chief executive officer
in 1951. That year, sales totaled $188.1 million, almost
three times sales of $64.9 million a decade earlier in 1941.
Net earnings reached $19.8 million vs. $7.0 million—

a solid record for a solid company.

George Catalano, seen here in 1946,
was a principal of Boston-based
Catalano Brothers, a long-time U.S.
Gypsum motor carrier.

was

President Franklin Roosevelt
allocated almost 90 percent of
the budget to the war effort,
including production of
planes, tanks and military
supplies. The unemployed
began to work in industry
fueled by war.

The Pentagon, the world’s
largest office building, was
completed.

Allied troops stormed the
beaches at Normandy on D-Day.
A team of scientists, working
at Harvard University and
funded in part by IBM, con-
structed the first automatic,
general-purpose, digital
computer. Congress passed
the Gl Bill of Rights, which
financed college educations
and home mortgages for
many World War Il veterans.

In August, U.S. planes dropped
atomic bombs on Hiroshima
and Nagasaki. Japan surren-
dered. World War Il ended.
Total casualties exceeded

54 million.

The U.S. birth rate increased
19 percent this year. Why?
Returning veterans started
families.

Bill Levitt began construction
of a development of affordable
homes on Long Island, at
what was later to be named
Levittown.

American physicists invented
the transistor. CBS broadcast
the first TV programs in color;
conventional sets received
only in black and white.
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THE 12X h DECADE

1952-1961

U.S. GYPSUM LEADS THE WAY IN INNOVATION WITH RESEARCH VILLAGE

The 1950s building boom brought a need for better home design

and labor-saving products, not to mention more gypsum

wallboard. U.S. Gypsum led the way with groundbreaking ideas.

n 1952, the company presented a revolution-
ary concept to the directors of the National
Association of Home Builders (NAHB):
a Research Village of six moderately priced
homes, each designed and built by a different
architect/builder team. The homes would
demonstrate practical yet innovative ideas to encourage
builders to improve the design and construction of suburban
housing. The houses also would appeal to buyers and, of
course, showcase a wide variety of U.S. Gypsum products.
With the support of the NAHB and other manufac-
turers, U.S. Gypsum spearheaded the project. The six
houses, built in what is now Palatine, Ill., debuted during
the NAHB show in January 1955. A shelter-magazine
blitz and public tours, attended by thousands, followed

in the spring. Designs incorporated such forward-looking

features as an all-steel frame and USG roof deck with
exposed open-truss metal joists, a concrete roof that was
poured and then lifted by jacks onto steel columns, walls
of windows, volume ceilings and outdoor living areas that
visually extended interior spaces. Five of the six homes
still stand, and although awareness of Research Village
faded, U.S. Gypsum made its mark as an innovator.

Two major labor-saving products met contractors’
needs during this period. Tapered-edge SHEETROCK panels,
which came out in 1952, made it easier to produce

a good drywall joint. In 1953, U.S. Gypsum changed joint




finishing forever when it introduced the first ready-mixed
joint compound. Based on latex technology developed

as a rubber substitute during the war, this product rapidly
gained ground in the market. The company advanced
high-rise construction in 1960 by introducing its fire-
resistant metal stud and screw-attached drywall system.

The source of such innovations—the Research
Department—had long outgrown its Chicago location
when the company built a new laboratory in Des Plaines,
[1I. Completed in 1961, the 110,000-square-foot facility
won a number of design awards and served U.S. Gypsum
well for more than 20 years.

In the manufacturing arena, the company continued
to build plants to meet demand. CGC opened a wallboard
plant in Montreal (1953). In addition to several plant
expansions, U.S. Gypsum started up the Shoals, Ind.,
facility, with its mine and board plant (1954), a wallboard
plant at Stony Point, N.Y. (1955), a paper mill at Galena
Park, Texas (1959), the Chamblee, Ga., joint compound

plant (1959), the Sperry, lowa, mine and plant (1960)

and the Dallas facility (1961), then producing paint and
joint tape.

U.S. Gypsum decided to grow through acquisition,
too, and used some of its $80 million in cash to purchase

the seven mineral wool plants of American Rock Wool

The new state-of-the-art U.S.
Gypsum Company Research Center
(above and right) was opened in
Des Plaines, lll., in 1961.

Corporation as well as a mineral wool and ceiling tile
facility in Walworth, Wis. (all 1959).
Employees received the company’s first major benefits
program in 1958—a basic pension plan implemented
at the insistence of Graham Morgan, then vice president.
On a lighter note, it was during the ’50s that Chicago
native Bob Newhart spent 14 months in the employ
of U.S. Gypsum. Hired in August 1955, he worked as a
junior accountant in engineering, an experience some say
he used in his early material. When faced with the ce
of transferring to the U.S. Gypsum plant in Lisbon Falls,
Maine, or staying in Chicago to pursue a career in radio
comedy, Newhart chose comedy and only occasionally

looked back—with humor.
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THE Seventh pecae

1962-1971

The 1960s were a time of opportunity seized—

through acquisitions, diversification, international

expansion and industry-changing products.

.S. Gypsum’s first major investment

of the decade was the purchase of

5 percent of British Plaster Board Limited

(BPB) in 1962. The holding, increased

to 15 percent the next year, brought with

it new technology—BPB’s continuous-
kettle calcining process, which later made possible USG’s
high-speed board plants.

U.S. Gypsum also continued to buy plants and assets
that expanded its current lines and took it into even more
product categories. Acquisitions bolstered its lime and
paint businesses and further diversified the company into

safety grating and other metal products for industrial

facilities (The Globe Company, 1964); plastic panels,
laminates and shower bases (Fiberesin Plastics Company,
1968); aluminum building specialties, including shower
doors (Kinkead Industries Incorporated, 1969); and
construction adhesives (Chicago Mastic Company, 1971).
Most acquisitions focused on construction or industrial
processes, with the major exception of A.P. Green
Refractories Co. Purchased in an all-stock deal in 1967,
A.P. Green made firebrick in 36 plants around the world.
The acquisition was intended to reduce the peaks and
valleys in U.S. Gypsum’s earnings.

BPB and A.P. Green were not the company’s only
international ventures. It sought opportunities abroad by
building a ceiling tile plant in Mons, Belgium (1968), as
well as a gypsum wallboard plant (1969) and ceiling tile
facility (1970) in Mexico.

Within the United States, expansion took the form of
new wallboard plants at Baltimore (1962) and Santa Fe

3 “"--‘-:rq-_._._,hx.Springs, Calif. (1966), a mineral fiber ceiling tile line at

C‘?@nville, Miss. (1963), a hardboard facility at Danville,
Va. (]\9.67)7 and a paint and joint compound plant near
Chicag}x:s Midway Airport (1970).

/
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The company changed its structure to manage all

these businesses, reorganizing in 1967 into two groups:
construction products, with five profit centers, and
industrial products. Importantly, it established a national
accounts department to address the specific needs of
the small but growing retail building-materials chains.

It also opened a number of its own drywall distribution
locations starting in 1971, which soon grew into a major
business, L&W Supply Corporation.

At the helm, “Tex” Shaver retired in 1967. Graham
Morgan had been named chief executive officer in 1965
and became chairman and CEO in 1970.

Revolutionary new products brought opportunities
to advance the construction industry and increase sales
in a variety of markets. In 1963, U.S. Gypsum introduced
DURABOND chemically setting joint compound, the first
of its kind, and SHEETROCK WR board, with a water-resistant

core and face paper. The company’s most important

Thia-is 0s TV room features walls
built using U.S. Gypsum’s UtTRawaLL
relocatablepartitions.

innovation of the period, however, was the USG Cavity
Shaft Wall System (1968). This system enclosed elevator
shafts and stairwells in lightweight, fire-rated, rapidly
assembled, steel-and-gypsum-panel walls. It helped take
the skyscraper to new heights in the "70s.

U.S. Gypsum also found opportunities in the growing
industrialized housing and repair and remodel markets.
To prove the value of remodeling structurally sound slum
buildings, instead of tearing them down to put up new
public housing projects, the company formed a subsidiary
to purchase and rehab old apartment buildings. The
subsidiary, working with National Association of Home
Builders members, rebuilt hundreds of apartments in
New York, Cleveland, Chicago, Detroit and Los Angeles
over five years using U.S. Gypsum products. The award-
winning project succeeded in demonstrating the cost-
effectiveness of developing low-income housing this way,
but the idea did not catch on.

The company did some construction of its own during
the decade. The result was a dramatic new headquarters
building at the corner of Chicago’s Monroe Street and
Wacker Drive, which opened in the spring of 1963.
Designed by the Perkins & Will Partnership, the pioneer-
ing 18-story structure was set at a 45-degree angle to the
corner and made a widely acclaimed contribution to the

city’s built environment.

was

In the brief, tense standoff
known as the Cuban Missile
Crisis, the possibility of a
nuclear war almost became
reality. John Glenn orbited the
earth. Sam Walton opened the
first Wal-Mart.

President John Kennedy was
assassinated. Martin Luther
King Jr. delivered his “I have
a dream” speech. Congress
voted to guarantee women
equal pay for equal work.
The Beatles had their first
U.S. hit—*I Wanna Hold Your
Hand.”

Congress passed the Civil
Rights Bill. As part of his Great
Society initiative, President
Lyndon Johnson signed the
Medicare Act. The Surgeon
General released a report link-
ing smoking to lung cancer.

Martin Luther King Jr. was
assassinated in Memphis;
Robert Kennedy was assassi-
nated in Los Angeles.

Neil Armstrong walked on the
moon. Three hundred thousand
people attended the Woodstock
music festival.

Congress created the
Environmental Protection
Agency.

Concerned about inflation,
President Richard Nixon
announced a 90-day wage
and price freeze.






Taking innovation to new heights:
The USG Cavity Shaft Wall System
facilitated the construction of many
of the world’s tallest buildings,
including Chicago’s Sears Tower.




Pride in Our Company

THe e g ht h pecane

1972-1961

EMPLOYEES TAKE PRIDE IN GROWTH

Throughout the early 1970s, U.S. Gypsum’s leaders continued

to look for acquisitions to complement existing businesses and

use the company’s cash to grow.

mong other things, they bought
businesses that made vinyl moldings
for wall systems (Gossen Corp., 1972),
steel doors and restroom partitions
(Kewanee Mfg. Co., 1972), metal-clad
exterior residential doors (Entrance
Systems, Inc., 1974), and carpeting (Constellation Carpet
Limited, 1973, Hollytex Carpet Mills, 1973, and Sequoyah
Industries, Inc., 1974). U.S. Gypsum purchased a structural
engineering firm, Wiss, Janney, Elstner and Associates
(1973), which was well known for determining the causes

of building failures, and even briefly got into real estate with

investments in several residential developments and malls.

The company wasn’t just buying, though. After more
than 40 years, the roofing business succumbed to high
costs and competitive pressures. U.S. Gypsum sold its
plants in 1975. The Fiberesin Division was sold in 1977.

A new business began to make its mark. By 1974,
L&W Supply had 58 locations and sales of about
$60 million. In 1977, subsidiaries of U.S. Gypsum and
Condec Corporation formed a joint venture to produce
rigid foam insulation with the brand name FOAMULAR.

U.S. Gypsum’s successful cavity shaft wall system had
a major impact on construction during the 1970s, making
possible some of the world’s tallest buildings. Designed
for the twin towers of the World Trade Center (completed
in 1972 and 1973), the system was used in the Sears Tower
(1973), which held the title of world’s tallest for 22 years.

In gypsum manufacturing, 1976 marked the end
of an era. The New Brighton, N.Y., plant—part of the
King acquisition of 1924—was shuttered after 85 years of
operation. A joint compound facility at Port Reading, N.J.
(1975), and a new board line at the Stony Point, N.Y.,
plant (1976) made up for the lost capacity.

As the company celebrated its 75th anniversary in
1977, employees took pride in the fact that U.S. Gypsum
surpassed the $1 billion mark in sales that year and
achieved record earnings of almost $60 million. The
company went on to more than double earnings by 1979.
Then, a construction recession hit, brought on by inflation
and astoundingly high interest rates. The recession

negatively affected results throughout the early 1980s.

Proud to be part of the U.S. Gypsum
Company team in 1974 (left to right):
Terri Rafats, Sales, lIl.; Joanne Twomey,
advertising program manager, and
Vicki Walsh, sales, Ind.
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Ready for delivery: SHEeTRock remains
one of the world’s most recognized
brands.

was

The Dow Jones Industrial
Average crossed the 1,000-
point mark for the first time.
The World Trade Center
became the world’s tallest
building; the Sears Tower
topped it the next year.

Direct U.S. involvement

in Vietnam ended with the
January declaration of

a ceasefire.

Richard Nixon was the first
U.S. president to resign office.
Dreyfus offered the first
money market fund for indi-
vidual investors.

The last American troops left
Vietnam.

College dropouts Stephen
Wozniak and Steven Jobs
founded Apple Computer in
a garage.

Investment banking firms
Kolhberg Kravis Roberts and
Drexel Burnham Lambert were
founded, beginning the era

of mergers and acquisitions
financed by “junk” bonds.

Ayatollah Khomeini returned
to Iran; terrorists seized the
U.S. embassy and took 66
hostages. A nuclear accident
at Three Mile Island in
Pennsylvania caused the evac-
uation of 144,000 people.

The U.S. and 57 other countries
boycotted the Moscow summer
Olympics in protest of Soviet
occupation of Afghanistan.

IBM sold its first personal com-
puter; its operating system—
MS-DOS by Microsoft.



tHE ninth pecape

1962-1991

USG ATTRACTS RAIDERS, WINS FIGHTS BUT WEIGHED DOWN BY DEBT
As the company entered its ninth decade, the research organiza-
tion had once again outgrown its quarters. U.S. Gypsum purchased

laboratory facilities on a 127-acre site in Libertyville, 1ll., in

the fall of 1981.
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ver the next two years, the buildings When Graham Morgan retired in 1983, Edward

were remodeled, a new testing structure Duffy became chairman and chief executive officer.

was built, and staff gradually moved in. Under Duffy’s leadership, the company acquired
The move didn’t deter researchers Masonite Corporation, the world’s largest manufacturer

from developing industry-changing of hardboard, in 1984. With the purchase of such a

products. U.S. Gypsum extended its lead major business, it became clear that the company needed
with Ready-Mixed PLUS 3 joint compound—a lightweight a more workable structure. The holding company
material that saw rapid market acceptance—in 1983 USG Corporation was formed. Effective January 1, 1985,

and DUROCK Brand cement board—which became a major U.S. Gypsum Company became a subsidiary, along
line—in 1985.

with eight other operating businesses. The new structure
prepared USG for further acquisitions and growth.

USG implemented a strategic plan that called for
focusing on several core businesses and exiting others.

It got out of the carpeting business with the sale of two

U.S. Gypsum’s core product lines
continued to grow.
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eer U.S. Gypsum through
ng times in the '80s.

units and sold the Gossen Division (vinyl moldings) in
1985. It spun off A.P. Green Refractories in 1987 and
sold its lime operations in 1989.

Duffy retired in 1985, and Robert Day was named
chairman and CEO. Day oversaw two major acquisitions:
Donn Incorporated (1986), the leader in ceiling grid
and access floors, and DAP Inc. (1987), manufacturer of
caulks, adhesives and other products. USG combined
Donn with its existing ceiling tile company and part of
Masonite to form USG Interiors, Inc.

USG’s sales passed $2 billion in 1984. In 1986,
the corporation reported its third consecutive year of record
sales and earnings. It also became a takeover target
of Canada’s Belzberg family, mainly because of its cash
reserves, earnings record and undervalued assets.

In response, USG bought back 20 percent of its stock,
including the Belzberg’s shares, taking on debt to do so.
The next year, Desert Partners, L.P., owned by
Texas oilmen Cyril Wagner Jr. and Jack Brown, revealed
it had bought almost 10 percent of USG’s stock. Wagner
and Brown told management they wanted to buy the

company. Day said no.

In the spring of 1988, Desert Partners made a tender
offer to purchase a portion of USG shares at $42 each
and initiated a proxy contest with USG management
by nominating candidates for six openings on the board
of directors. To counter Desert Partners’ offer, the
corporation proposed a recapitalization plan that would
pay all shareholders $37 in cash, $5 in debentures and
one new share for each share they currently owned.

More than 700 people attended the annual meeting
that May. Many shareholders spoke in support of manage-
ment, citing the company’s leadership and past perform-
ance. When all the proxies were counted several weeks
later, USG’s candidates had won the six board seats.

At a special meeting on July 8, shareholders approved
the recapitalization plan. To pay for it, USG borrowed about
$2.5 billion in bank loans and bonds. Total debt stood

at $3.1 billion.

i
The corporation immediately began selling assets,
including Masonite, the Kinkead Division (shower doors)
and the Marlite Division of USG Interiors in 1988
and Wiss Janney, Elstner (engineering consulting), the

construction metals business and the Wacker Drive

The company’s new Research Center,
located in Libertyville, lll., featured
state-of-the-art technologies.

headquarters building in 1989. Total asset sales yielded
$560 million—more than expected.

Day retired in May 1990, and Eugene Connolly took
over as chairman and CEQ, the fourth in a decade. Several
days later, ground was broken on a new headquarters
building—to be leased—at Franklin and Adams streets in
Chicago.

The construction industry was on its way to the worst
recession in almost 50 years. Despite debt reduction,

USG couldn’t manage the $800,000 a day in interest that
was accruing on its debt. So, on the last day of 1990,

the corporation presented a debt-restructuring plan and
announced it would not make its principal payment

to the banks. It kept its cash to run the business. USG
reported a net loss of $90 million for the year, the first
in U.S. Gypsum’s history.

In January 1991, the Gulf War started. That year,
housing starts fell to their lowest point since 1945.
Meanwhile, USG sold DAP, and executives met with
bank representatives and bondholder committees to try

to reach an agreement on a financial restructuring.



FROM FARM TO FACTORY TO OFFICE: COMPANY PRODUCTS CHANGE WITH ECONOMY
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MODERN ECONOMY MARKETS CREATE
DEVELOPS OPPORTUNITY




products. The introduction of
HyprocaL gypsum in 1930 gave
U.S. Gypsum a unique product
for industrial markets. This
super-strength, easy-to-work-
with plaster soon became the
preferred material for making
accurate moldings and castings
in industries such as foundries
and aircraft and auto produc-
tion. By 1936, industry made up
15 percent of the company’s
markets, according to Fortune
magazine.

During the 1950s and 1960s,
U.S. Gypsum acquired businesses
that further expanded its indus-
trial sales with products such
as mineral fiber insulation, high-
calcium lime, oil-based paints,
mica, refractories (firebrick),
metal safety grating and metal
cable tray, in which electrical
and other types of cables are
enclosed.

Construction markets evolved
with the times. In 1950, commer-
cial and industrial construction
were nearly equal, each making
up about one-quarter of nonresi-
dential floor space for which
contracts were awarded. In
1970, commercial buildings had
increased to 46 percent of the
total, while industrial construc-
tion had fallen to 18 percent. By
2000, commercial construction
was 63 percent of all nonresiden-
tial floor space, and industrial
was only 6 percent. (Commercial
construction has declined since.)

As new office towers scraped
the sky in the 1970s, U.S.
Gypsum Company led the way
with its cavity shaft wall. This
system made extremely tall
structures feasible by providing
a lightweight, fire-resistant
method for enclosing their tall
elevator shafts. The company
also focused on the growing
office market with its ceilings
business. Acoustical ceilings
increase the comfort of modern
offices by reducing noise levels.
USG built on its existing base
with the acquisition of two
plants from Conwed Corporation
in 1985 and Donn Incorporated
(ceiling grid, specialty ceilings,
access floors and wall systems)
in 1986. The formation of USG
Interiors, Inc. in 1986 created
the first company with a full
line of products for commercial
interiors.

Today, USG’s sales reflect
changes in the market. Although
the largest portion of the
corporation’s sales still are to
new residential construction
(36 percent), more than a quarter
is to new nonresidential construc-
tion and a third to repair and
remodeling of both housing and
nonresidential buildings. Only
4 percent of sales are for indus-
trial processes.

Like the country, USG is
profoundly different today than
it was 100 years ago. The
company has kept pace with the
rapidly changing marketplace
throughout its history by creat-
ing innovative product solutions
and new, more effective distri-
bution channels. Today, USG
continues to play an important
and developing role in the world
of work and commerce.
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*,-reeaptured gypsum; a by-product
of fuel-burning power plants. The
use of recaptured gypsum reduces
landfill waste. =
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THE tenth pecabe

1992-2001

SueeTrock Brand Primer/Surfacer
(TurF-Hipe) was developed in 2001
and subsequently introduced to
the market in 2002.

«

CORPORATION STAYS STRONG THROUGH UPS AND DOWNS

hroughout 1992, USG negotiated with its
bank lenders and the committees repre-
senting two groups of bondholders. One
group would not accept the corporation’s
proposed restructuring plan, so USG’s
leaders said they would seek confirmation
by the bankruptcy court of a “cram-down” plan that
would give these bondholders nothing. Not surprisingly,
in early 1993, the corporation brokered an agreement
with all involved and filed a proxy for a restructuring that
would extend the bank loan’s maturity, give the two
major bondholder groups 97 percent of the stock and
provide the shareholders with the remaining 3 percent of

equity, an unusual step.

With all creditors voting overwhelmingly for the
plan, USG Corporation filed a prepackaged Chapter 11
bankruptcy on March 17. The court approved the plan
in a record 37 days, and USG emerged from bankruptcy
on May 6 with $1.6 billion in debt and a blueprint for
returning to financial health and growth.

First, it created two core businesses for focused
investment—North American Gypsum and Worldwide
Ceilings. It divided its use of cash equally between debt
reduction and capacity expansion and began to grow
slowly through plant modernizations in both gypsum
and ceilings. Projects completed by early 1996 at nine
gypsum plants added 600 million square feet of wall-
board capacity.




Upon Eugene Connolly’s retirement in 1996,
William Foote was named chairman, president and chief
executive officer.

As demand increased with a construction rebound,
the gypsum business launched an unprecedented
initiative to build five new high-speed wallboard lines in
strategic U.S. markets. USG broke ground for the first
plant at Bridgeport, Ala., in June 1997. The state-of-
the-art facilities started up in succession: Bridgeport and
East Chicago, Ind., in 1999, and Aliquippa, Pa., Plaster
City, Calif., and Rainier, Ore., in 2000. A sixth, smaller
plant was completed in Monterrey, Mexico, in 2001.

At the end, USG had spent more than $1 billion on new
and modernized facilities.

It had also reduced debt consistently during this
period. When the corporation’s debt once again achieved
an investment-grade rating (1997), USG had eliminated
more than $900 million in debt.

The distribution company, L&W Supply Corporation,
exceeded $1 billion in sales in 1998 and reached a high
of 193 operating locations in 1999.

New products demonstrated that the company
remained a leader in innovation. The ceilings business
introduced COMPASSO suspension trim (1993) and the
CURVATURA arching ceiling system (1995). The gypsum
business launched a new product platform in 1998 called
FIBEROCK, based on patented technology for combining
gypsum and fibers to create a strong structural panel.
The company built a line at Gypsum, Ohio (1999), to make
the new material. It also acquired Sybex, Inc. (1999)
and its U.S. and Canadian plants, which manufacture
joint compounds and paper faced metal bead. In 2000,
USG reinvented its wallboard products with the
introduction of the labor-saving Next Generation of
SHEETROCK Brand gypsum panels.

Trouble was brewing, though, in both the market-
place and courts. In 2000, the wallboard industry
experienced oversupply conditions, which caused prices
to fall and prompted the company to begin shutting
down high-cost manufacturing lines.

U.S. Gypsum also faced an increasing number of
asbestos lawsuits. The company had been dealing with
asbestos litigation for more than 20 years, the result of
its having used the material in some products from the
1930s to the 1970s. The landscape changed when major

defendant companies filed for bankruptey, including

The Pathfinder probe landed on Mars;
NASA aired live shots on the Internet
from the rover Sojourner.

Owens Corning and Armstrong World Industries in late
2000. With major defendants in bankruptcy, plaintitfs’
lawyers pursued other companies, including U.S. Gypsum,
that had relatively minor liability. The corporation
estimated its future liability and in 2000 took a charge of
$850 million against earnings to increase asbestos reserves.

The number of new lawsuits filed against U.S. Gypsum
continued to rise throughout the first half of 2001.
Management decided that seeking Chapter 11 protection
was the only way to preserve the assets of the corporation
and resolve claims against U.S. Gypsum fairly and finally.
USG and its major U.S. subsidiaries filed for bankruptcy
on June 25.

With debtor-in-possession financing and permission
from the bankruptcy court, USG continued to operate
normally. It paid all wages, salaries and benefits, paid
suppliers for new orders and supplied customers without
interruption. As 2001 closed, the bankruptcy process
was proceeding relatively smoothly. The business faced
a recession and oversupply of gypsum wallboard, yet it
demonstrated its staying power by working toward greater

operating efficiency and better customer relationships.

FiBerock Brand
Panels offer superior
performance benefits.



As at any point in U.S. Gypsum’s 100 years, the future is uncertain. Yet there

is cause to celebrate the perseverance and resiliency—the staying power—of the

company and its people, the leadership it has shown, the pride USG people

take in their work and company, the opportunities USG has created and seized,

the innovations with which it has taken its industry forward, the relationships it

has sustained, the safety that has always been a priority, and the integrity and

responsibility with which the company has operated since 1902. The organization

and its people will rely on these fundamental characteristics in the future and

will weave with them the fabric of USG’s next 100 years.

WANT TO KNOW MORE?

This United States Gypsum
Company centennial publication
is intended to present the
highlights of the company’s past
and the events and actions

that have defined its character
and influenced its development.
The publication, because of

its length, could not possibly tell
the whole story—and that’s
already been done, anyway.

In 1995, USG Corporation
published the comprehensive
United States Gypsum—

A Company History, written by
Thomas W. Foley. Foley worked
for U.S. Gypsum for 35 years in

accounting, labor relations and
human resources, retiring in
1991. He continues to research
and write history. His biography
of Father Francis M. Craft,

a missionary among the Sioux
in the late 1800s, is being pub-
lished in September 2002 by the
University of Nebraska Press.

If you would like to read more
about U.S. Gypsum’s history,
there are a limited number of
copies of the book available.

You may obtain one by contacting
the Corporate Communications
Department, #161-1.



Bibliography

U.S. GYPSUM HISTORY
ARTICLES

MARKET HISTORY
ARTICLES AND TIMELINE




THANK YOU! PUBLICATION TEAM






X2660/5-02
© 2002, USG Corporation
Printed in U.S.A.



